# Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

Krisanaprakornkit T, Sriraj W, Piyavhatkul N, Laopaiboon M



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2009, Issue 1

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review) Copyright 0 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	3
OBJECTIVES	4
METHODS	4
RESULTS	7
DISCUSSION	9
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	11
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	12
REFERENCES	12
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	15
DATA AND ANALYSES	19
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation Response/Mindfuness Meditation, Outcome 1 Symptom	
improvement (Y-BOCS) at 3 months.	19
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation Response/Mindfuness Meditation, Outcome 2 Perceived	
Stress Scale at 3 months	20
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation Response/Mindfuness Meditation, Outcome 3 Purpose in	
Life at 3 months	20
WHAT'S NEW	22
HISTORY	23
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	23
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	23
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	23
INDEX TERMS	24

### [Intervention Review]

# Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders

Thawatchai Krisanaprakornkit<sup>1</sup>, Wimonrat Sriraj<sup>2</sup>, Nawanant Piyavhatkul<sup>1</sup>, Malinee Laopaiboon<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, KhonKaen, Thailand. <sup>2</sup>Department of Anaesthesiology, Khon Kaen University, Khon Kaen, Thailand. <sup>3</sup>Department of Biostatistics and Demography, Faculty of Public Health, Khon Kaen University, Khon Kaen, Thailand

Contact address: Thawatchai Krisanaprakornkit, Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, KhonKaen University, KhonKaen, 40002, Thailand. drthawatchai@yahoo.com. (Editorial group: Cochrane Depression, Anxiety and Neurosis Group.)

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 1, 2009 (Status in this issue: Edited) Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004998.pub2

This version first published online: 25 January 2006 in Issue 1, 2006. Re-published online with edits: 21 January 2009 in Issue 1, 2009.

Last assessed as up-to-date: 24 August 2005. (Help document - Dates and Statuses explained)

This record should be cited as: Krisanaprakornkit T, Sriraj W, Piyavhatkul N, Laopaiboon M. Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD004998. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004998.pub2.

# ABSTRACT

#### Background

Anxiety disorders are characterised by long term worry, tension, nervousness, fidgeting and symptoms of autonomic system hyperactivity. Meditation is an age-old self regulatory strategy which is gaining more interest in mental health and psychiatry. Meditation can reduce arousal state and may ameliorate anxiety symptoms in various anxiety conditions.

### Objectives

To investigate the effectiveness of meditation therapy in treating anxiety disorders

### Search strategy

Electronic databases searched include CCDANCTR-Studies and CCDANCTR-References, complementary and alternative medicine specific databases, Science Citation Index, Health Services/Technology Assessment Text database, and grey literature databases. Conference proceedings, book chapters and references were checked. Study authors and experts from religious/spiritual organisations were contacted.

#### Selection criteria

Types of studies: Randomised controlled trials.

Types of participants: patients with a diagnosis of anxiety disorders, with or without another comorbid psychiatric condition.

Types of interventions: concentrative meditation or mindfulness meditation.

Comparison conditions: one or combination of 1) pharmacological therapy 2) other psychological treatment 3) other methods of meditation 4) no intervention or waiting list.

Types of outcome: 1) improvement in clinical anxiety scale 2) improvement in anxiety level specified by triallists, or global improvement 3) acceptability of treatment, adverse effects 4) dropout.

### Data collection and analysis

Data were independently extracted by two reviewers using a pre-designed data collection form. Any disagreements were discussed with a third reviewer, and the authors of the studies were contacted for further information.

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

### Main results

Two randomised controlled studies were eligible for inclusion in the review. Both studies were of moderate quality and used active control comparisons (another type of meditation, relaxation, biofeedback). Anti-anxiety drugs were used as standard treatment. The duration of trials ranged from 3 months (12 weeks) to 18 weeks. In one study transcendental meditation showed a reduction in anxiety symptoms and electromyography score comparable with electromyography-biofeedback and relaxation therapy. Another study compared Kundalini Yoga (KY), with Relaxation/Mindfulness Meditation. The Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale showed no statistically significant difference between groups. The overall dropout rate in both studies was high (33-44%). Neither study reported on adverse effects of meditation.

#### Authors' conclusions

The small number of studies included in this review do not permit any conclusions to be drawn on the effectiveness of meditation therapy for anxiety disorders. Transcendental meditation is comparable with other kinds of relaxation therapies in reducing anxiety, and Kundalini Yoga did not show significant effectiveness in treating obsessive-compulsive disorders compared with Relaxation/Meditation. Drop out rates appear to be high, and adverse effects of meditation have not been reported. More trials are needed.

### PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

#### Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders

Although meditation therapy is widely used in many anxiety-related conditions there is still a lack of studies in anxiety disorder patients. The small number of studies included in this review do not permit any conclusions to be drawn on the effectiveness of meditation therapy for anxiety disorders. Transcendental meditation is comparable with other kinds of relaxation therapies in reducing anxiety, and Kundalini Yoga did not show significant effectiveness in treating obsessive-compulsive disorders compared with Relaxation/Meditation. Drop out rates appear to be high, and adverse effects of meditation have not been reported. More trials are needed.

# BACKGROUND

Anxiety disorder is a state of pathological anxiety which is characterized by autonomy (spontaneous occurred or minimal trigger by stimuli, tension and autonomic nervous system overactivity), intensity (in which the severity exceeds the individual's capacity to bear the level of intensity), duration, which is usually persistent or chronic, and behaviour, in which coping ability is impaired, with disabling behaviour as a consequence. According to Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 4<sup>th</sup> edition (DSM-IV), anxiety disorders are classified into many types, including panic disorder, specific phobia, social phobia, obsessive-compulsive disorder(OCD), post-traumatic stress disorder(PTSD), acute stress disorder and generalised anxiety disorders (APA 1994).

Anxiety disorders are among the most prevalent psychiatric conditions in most populations studied. Studies have persistently shown that they produce inordinate morbidity, utilization of health care services, and functional impairment. Recent studies also suggest that chronic anxiety disorder may increase the rate of cardiovascular-related mortality (Horwath 2000). Two major studies in the United States have estimated the prevalence rates for a variety of anxiety disorders (the Epidemiological Catchment Area (ECA) study and the National Comorbidity Survey (NCS) study). The estimated lifetime prevalence rates for individual anxiety disorders are panic disorder (2.3-2.7%), generalized anxiety disorder (4.1-6.6%), OCD (2.3-2.6%), PTSD (1-9.3%), and social phobia (2.6-13.3%) (Blazer 1991, Kessler 1994, Eaton 1994, Kessler 1995). The prevalence of specific anxiety disorders appears to vary between countries and cultures. The lifetime prevalence rates for panic disorder ranged from 1.4 per 100 in Edmonton, Alberta, to 2.9 per 100 in Florence, Italy, with the exception of Taiwan which is 0.4 per 100 (Weissman 1997).

The debate over the primacy of biological or psychological factors in the pathophysiology of anxiety is gradually being replaced by a pragmatic approach based on research on the relative contributions of both. A parallel, unbiased approach in treatment research has begun to examine the merits of combined somatic and psychological treatments in anxiety. There has been tremendous progress in the nonpharmacologic treatment of anxiety disorders (Barrows 2002). Cognitive-behavioural therapies reflect a recent integration of the cognitive theories and methods invented by Aaron T. Beck and Albert Ellis, and behavioural theory based on the work of B.F.Skinner and Ivan Pavlov (Sadock 2003). Relaxation therapy is a behavioural approach which emphasises the development of a relaxation response to counteract the stress response of anxiety. Meditation is sometimes considered to be a form of relaxation therapy, however meditation not only creates a relaxation response but also produces an altered state of consciousness which facilitates the meta-cognitive mode of thinking which make possible the expectation of cognitive-behavioural benefits.

Growing scientific evidence, clinical experience and community attitudes are encouraging a shift to more natural and holistic

forms of therapy as alternatives or adjuncts to pharmacological approaches in a variety of conditions. Meditation has a wide range of applications, but it is especially useful in treating stress and related disorders. Meditation is easily adapted to the general medical setting by adequately trained practitioners who have first hand experience of this form of therapy (Hassed 1996). A Psychologicallyoriented definition by John V. Davis states that "Meditation is a set of attentional practices leading to an altered state or trait of consciousness characterized by expanded awareness, greater presence, and a more integrated sense of self" (Davis 1998). Meditation originated long ago before the advent of contemporary psychology. It originated in ancient India more than 3000 years ago and has existed in the ritual practice of some major religions and in many secular organisations. There are two general types of meditation: concentrative meditation and mindfulness meditation ( Barrows 2002). Concentrative meditation is best represented in modern medicine by two programs, Transcendental Meditation (TM), which was introduced to the West during 1960s, and the relaxation response of Herbert Benson (Bensonian meditation) which was developed subsequently (Benson 1975). Concentrative meditation emphasises focusing the attention onto an object and sustaining attention until the mind achieves stillness. Relaxation and clarity of mind are the results of continuous practice.

Mindfulness meditation is another kind of meditation which emphasizes upon an open awareness to any contents of the mind that are emerging. After a period of practice, the patient will develop a sustainable attentive observational capability without reacting to their own thoughts and emotions. Mindful state with equanimity helps to retrain or decondition the previous pattern of reaction which is usually poorly adapted to external reality. It is represented by mindfulness-based stress reduction programs. The techniques of mindfulness meditation which focus on awareness to develop a detached observation of the contents of consciousness may represent a powerful cognitive behavioural coping strategy for transforming the ways in which we respond to life events (Astin 1997).

From preliminary review, Raskin conducted a controlled study comparing muscle biofeedback, transcendental mediation, and relaxation therapy. The study consisted of a six-week baseline period, six weeks of treatment, a six-week posttreatment observation period, and later follow-up (Raskin 1980). Kabat-Zinn conducted a study to determine the effectiveness of a group stress reduction program based on mindfulness meditation for patients with anxiety disorders. Patients were assessed using a structured clinical interview, and were found to meet the DSM-III-R criteria for generalized anxiety disorder or panic disorder with or without agoraphobia. They were trained in a Mindfulness-based stress reduction program and followed-up for 3 months (Kabat-Zinn 1992). Shannahoff-Khalsa reviewed two published clinical trials for treating obsessive-compulsive disorder(OCD) using a specific Kundalini Yoga protocol. This OCD protocol also included techniques that are useful for a wide range of anxiety disorders, as well as a tech-

Copyright  $\textcircled{\sc 0}$  2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

nique specific for learning to manage fear, one for tranquillizing an angry mind, one for meeting mental challenges, and one for turning negative thoughts into positive thoughts (Shannahoff\* 2004).

In terms of the adverse effects of meditation, Castillo reported that meditation can cause depersonalization and derealization (Castillo 1990), and there are several reports about the association between meditation and psychotic state (French 1975, Lazarus 1976, Walsh 1979, Chan-Ob 1999).

Though there is much research which has combined meditation therapy with conventional treatment in anxiety disorders, there is still a lack of reviews that provide substantial evidence on the effectiveness of meditation therapy programs, both for short-term and long-term effects and for acceptability in terms of practicality, feasibility, difficulty and concerns about the adverse effects.

# OBJECTIVES

To investigate the effectiveness of meditation therapy programs (concentrative meditation and mindfulness meditation) which are specifically designed to treat anxiety disorders.

# METHODS

### Criteria for considering studies for this review

#### Types of studies

All relevant randomised controlled trials comparing meditation therapy alone or in combination with conventional treatment (consisting of drugs or other psychological treatment), or to another type of meditation or to conventional treatment alone or no intervention / waiting list control.

Exclusion: Open trials, case series, non-randomised controlled trials.

### **Types of participants**

Inclusion criteria

Adults with a primary diagnosis of anxiety disorder (or corresponding to another diagnostic criteria including Diagnostic and Statistical of Mental disorders (DSM), International Classification of Disease -9(ICD-9) or ICD-10 clinical descriptions or research diagnostic criteria for neurotic disorders) with or without another comorbid psychiatric conditions, irrespective of gender, age, race or nationality.

### **Types of interventions**

Operational definitions of meditation: The specific techniques of mind training which have two fundamental attentional strategies. 1. Concentrative meditation entails sustained attention directed toward a single object or point of focus. The aim is one-pointed attention to a single perception without distraction in order to produce the peaceful and one-mindedness state. 2. Mindfulness meditation (opening-up, insight meditation) involves the continual maintenance of a specific perceptual-cognitive set toward objects as they spontaneously arise in awareness with a nonreactive attitude. The salient features are full awareness or mindfulness of any contents of consciousness with equanimity.

### Inclusion criteria

Meditation therapy, consisting of concentrative meditation, mindfulness meditation or combination of both.

For an intervention to be accepted as Meditation Therapy:

1. It must have been described in the trial report as: meditation, concentrative meditation, opening-up meditation, mindfulness meditation, insight meditation, mindfulness-based stress reduction program, Qiqong therapy, Pranayama (Hindu breathing meditation), Transcendental Meditation, Kundalini Yoga or Anapanasathi (Buddhist breathing meditation), Zen, ChunDoSup-Bup( Korean style meditation).

2. Meditation is the main intervention (in case of multi-component therapy).

#### Exclusion criteria

1) Meditation therapy that was not a well-organized program or was not specified to treat patients with anxiety disorders.

2) Meditation therapy that was a part of religious/ cult practice and was not specified to treat patients with anxiety disorders.

Comparison conditions: may be one or combination of

1) Pharmacological therapy: antianxiety agents mostly benzodiazepine compounds, antidepressants, adrenergic blocking agents etc.

2) Other psychological treatment : cognitive-behavioural therapy, insight-oriented psychotherapy, psychoanalysis , counseling etc.3) Other methods of meditation.

4) No intervention or waiting list.

### Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

1) Improvement in clinical scale of anxiety at the end of trial( continuous outcome):

Brief Outpatient Psychopathology Scale (Free 1977), Covi Anxiety Scale (Lipman 1976), Anxiety States Inventory (VanDercar 1980), Maudsley Obsessional-Compulsive Inventory (Rachman 1990), Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale (Hamilton 1959), Yale-Brown Obsessive-Compulsive Scale (Goodman 1989), Symptom Checklist-90 (Derogatis 1973) etc.

2) Improvement in anxiety level specified by researcher or global improvement (categorical outcome: not improved, much improved or very much improved).

Secondary outcomes

- 1) Acceptability of treatment:
- (a) any adverse effects that were reported in the trials.
- (b) number of subjects who reported adverse effects.
- 2) Dropout (to be considered a proxy mesure of adherence to trial

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

Copyright  $\textcircled{\sc c}$  2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

protocol).

3) Global impression of subjects to the program: Clinical Global Impression (CGI) (Guy 1970).

4) Number of experiences related to meditation (out of body, ecstatic feeling, depersonalisation, visual experience)

### Search methods for identification of studies

1. Electronic databases:

The following electronic databases were searched:

CCDANCTR-Studies was searched on 13-06-2005 using the following strategy:

Diagnosis = (Anxiety or Anxious or Agoraphobia or "Phobic Disorder\*" or "Panic Disorder" or "Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder"or "Post-Traumatic Stress Disorders" or "Combat Disorder" or "War Neurosis" or "Acute Stress

Disorder" or Neurosis or Neuroses or Neurotic) and

Intervention = (meditation or "mindfulness-based stress reduction" or Vipassana or Zen or Yoga or yogic or Pranayama or Sudarshan or Kriya or Qi-gong or "Chi kung" or Kundalini or Chundosunbup)

and not

Diagnostic Criteria = "Not Stated" or None

CCDANCTR-References was searched on 13-06-2005 using the following strategy:

Keywords = (Anxiety or Anxious or Agoraphobia or "Phobic Disorder\*" or "Panic Disorder" or "Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder" or "Post-Traumatic Stress Disorders" or "Combat Disorder" or "War Neurosis" or "Acute

Stress Disorder" or Neurosis or Neurotic)

and

Free-text = (meditation or "mindfulness-based stress reduction" or Vipassana or Zen or Yoga or yogic or Pranayama or Sudarshan or kriya or Qi-gong or "Chi kung" or Kundalini or Chundosunbup) Complimentary and Alternative Medicine specific databases were searched:

CISCOM- Centralized Information Service for Complementary Medicine (CISCOM) to June 2005

System for Information on Grey Literature in Europe(SIGLE) search through June 2005

Terms used "Title= meditation AND title=anxiety", "Title= yoga AND Title = anxiety"

Health Services/Technology Assessment Text (HSTAT) database was searched.

2. Hand searching of specialist journals:

The main journals have been searched by Cochrane Schizophrenia Group (CSG) and Cochrane Depression, Anxiety and Neurosis Group, Trial Search Coordinator (CCDAN TSC). Searching of conference proceeding of Anxiety Disorders Association of America 2003-4.

Search for the relevant studies cited in book chapters on the treatment of anxiety disorders.

3. Personal communication:

3.1 The authors of the included studies and experts in the fields were consulted to find out whether they know about any published or unpublished RCTs/ CCTs of meditation therapy and anxiety disorders, which have not yet been identified. Personal contact was made with persons whose work related to meditation. The list of personal contacts are shown in acknowledgement section.

3.2 Religious/spiritual organizations around the world (Internet web sites were extensively searched including Internet mailing lists) to find out whether they have conducted or know of the application of meditation in anxiety patients. Lists of organizations are shown in the acknowledgement section.

4. Search for ongoing trials:

metaRegister of Controlled Trials (mRCT) - active registers which comprised 13 clinical trial registries to June 2005.

HSR PROJECT (National Information Center on Health Services Research and Health Care Technology) to June 2005 .

National center for Complementary and Alternative Medicine under NIH .

National research register 2005 issue2.

5. Checking and follow searching from references found in 1-3. Science Citation Index of included and excluded studies were searched for further relevant studies.

### Data collection and analysis

### Selection of studies

Two reviewers (KT and KW) screened the abstracts of all publications obtained by the search strategy. A distinction was made between:

1) Eligible studies in which meditation therapy alone or in combination was compared to a different type of psychological treatment, meditation or any active drugs.

2) Non-eligible studies in which meditation therapy was examined without a control element (open trial), non-randomised trials.

For articles that appeared to be eligible RCTs, the full articles were obtained and inspected to assess their relevance, based on the preplanned criteria for inclusion.

### Quality assessment

In order to ensure that variation was not caused by systematic errors in the design of a study, the methodological quality of the selected trials were assessed by two independent reviewers (KT and KW), using the criteria described in the Cochrane Handbook. The criteria are based on the evidence of a strong relationship between

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

the potential for bias in the results and allocation concealment ( Schulz 1995) and are defined below:

1. Were the inclusion and exclusion criteria clearly defined?

2. Was the allocation concealment properly done?

3. Were treatment programme, other than the interventions, identical?

4. Were important baseline characteristics reported and comparable?

5. Were the outcomes of patients who withdrew described and included in the analysis?

6. Were the outcome measures clearly defined, and valid?

Three quality categories were set:

High quality - all criteria met

Moderate quality - one or more criteria only partially met

Low quality - two or more criteria not met

According to The Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions, adequacy of allocation concealment was also judged (Higgins 2005).

A: Adequate

B: Unclear

C: Inadequate

D: Was not used

### Data extraction and management

Data were independently extracted by two reviewers (KT and KW) using a predesigned data collection form. Any disagreements were discussed with a third reviewer (PN), the decisions documented and where necessary, the authors of the studies contacted to help resolve the issue. All exclusion/ drop outs were identified. In the case of trials using a crossover design, to exclude the potential additive effect in the second or more stages on these trials, only data from the first stage were analysed.

### Data analysis

### Dichotomous outcomes

Dichotomous outcomes were analysed by calculating the relative risk for each trial, with the precision in each result expressed using 95% confidence intervals. The relative risks from the individual trials were combined through meta-analysis if data available. When overall results were significant, the number needed to treat (NNT) was calculated (where no clinical, methodological or statistical heterogeneity was identified) by pooled analysis of the overall relative risk with an estimate of the event in the experimental group and control group of the trials.

### Continuous outcomes

Data on continuous outcomes will be analysed in RevMan 4.2.7 ( Review Manager 2004). Considering that the data using standardized mean difference are frequently skewed, the means not being the centre of the distribution. The statistics for meta-analysis are thought to be able to cope with some skew, but are formulated for parametric data. To avoid this potential pitfall the following standards were applied to all data before inclusion:

1. Standard deviations and means were reported or obtained from

authors.

2. For data with finite limits, such as the endpoint scale data, the standard deviation (SD), when multiplied by 2, is less than the mean. Otherwise the mean is unlikely to be an appropriate measure of the centre of the distribution (Altman 1996). The reviewers reported data that do not meet the first or second standard in the 'other data' tables.

For change data (endpoint minus baseline) in the absence of individual patient data, it is impossible to know if data are skewed. Where both change and endpoint data are available for the same outcome category, endpoint data only are presented. Authors of studies reporting change data only were contacted for endpoint figures. Non-normally distributed data were reported in the 'Other data types' tables.

Subgroup analysis

Due to clear differences in techniques and responses, rather than undertaking an overall pooled analysis, the data were analysed in subgroups according to the following categories:

type of meditation ( concentrative or mindfulness meditation)
 different type of anxiety disorders

Subgroup analyses would only be undertaken if a sufficient number of studies were identified.

Analysis of Heterogeneity

Heterogeneity can occur from many sources. An important aspect of every meta-analysis is to consider and emphasise the existence of heterogeneity and to take account of this in the interpretation of results. Sources of heterogeneity (clinical heterogeneity) can be divided in to two groups: biologic and methodologic.

#### Biological:

Characteristic of patients: age, socioeconomic status, education
 Type of anxiety disorder: Generalised anxiety disorder, panic disorder, phobic disorder etc.

3. Disorder severity and chronicity: mild, moderate, severe

#### Methodological

1. Type of meditation

(a) Techniques: concentrative, mindfulness meditation or combination.

(b) Intensity of practice: daily, many times a day, duration of meditation per session.

2. Follow up period: at the end of trial or a period after trial.

3. Multi-component intervention: drugs, counseling, psychotherapy etc.

Strategies for exploring heterogeneity:

1. Identification of the methodological differences between studies.

2. Identification of the biological differences in study sample.

3. Subgroup analysis.

4. Meta-regression if enough data are available.

The test for homogeneity and I-square which provide an estimate of the percentage of variability due to heterogeneity were done

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

Copyright  $\textcircled{\sc c}$  2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

using Review Manager 4.2.7

In case of homogeneity of studies result, the fixed effect model was used in meta-analysis.

Sensitivity analysis:

A sensitivity analysis was planned to test the robustness of effects of assumptions by examining the influence of the following on the results of the statistical analyses:

1. the effect of the quality criteria

2. comorbid depressive disorder

3. concomitant physical disorder

4. blinding of raters

The sensitivity analysis in this study was not done due to the paucity of eligible studies.

Publication bias

The funnel plot (Light 1984, Egger 1997) was planned to determine publication bias, by plotting the effect size against sample size. Publication bias may result when trials with negative results are not published.

### RESULTS

### **Description of studies**

# See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies.

At the preliminary phase of searching, 50 studies were found. The majority of these studies tested various meditation methods in anxiety subjects with a variety of anxiety conditions such as test anxiety, music performance anxiety, speech anxiety, complaints of anxiety , anxiety related to medical illnesses and psychoneuroses without any definite statement of diagnosis. Using the diagnostic criteria for psychiatric disorder (DSM or ICD classification) and limited to include only Randomised Controlled Trials, 46 studies were excluded from the early phase.

Two studies (Lu 1998; Sahasi 1989) were excluded from the reviews and put in the excluded studies section.

In Lu 1998 patients were diagnosed as having generalized anxiety disorder by a physician but no diagnostic criteria was stated. The selection of patients was done alternately (thus not a true randomisation technique). Sahasi 1989 used consultant psychiatrists to diagnose anxiety-neurotic patients on the basis of DSM-III. However the subject selection was not done using a true randomization method, it was by using an odd-even number and patients who were assigned to the yoga group were shifted to the drug group according to willingness of participants .

Raskin 1980 and Shannahoff\* 1999 were the only 2 included studies according to the inclusion criteria.

Raskin(1980) compared 3 treatment modalities: Transcendental Meditation(TM), Electromyography-Feedback (EMG-FB) and Relaxation Therapy(RT).

Shannahoff\* 1999 compared Kundalini Yoga with Mindfulness Meditation.

#### Design

Both studies were randomised controlled trials using active control comparisons (another type of meditation, relaxation, biofeedback). Antianxiety drugs were used as usual. No placebo or waiting list control were used. The duration of trials ranged from 3 months(12 weeks) in Shannahoff\* 1999 to 18 weeks in Raskin 1980.

#### Settings

Both studies were conducted in United States of America. Using out-patient group setting, one group of participants in the Raskin 1980 study was sent to the Transcendental Meditation Centre and returned to have electromyographic measures at the study site. Participants

In Raskin 1980 participants were diagnosed with anxiety neurosis according to DSM-II (1968) and the Taylor Manifest Anxiety Score(TMAS) were at least 21(above 80 percentile). Individuals with medical problems that complicated their anxiety, alcohol/substances abuse were excluded. Participants who had received prior formal training of either EMG-Biofeedback, Transcendental Meditation(T.M.) or Relaxation Training (RT)were also excluded. Patients in the T.M.and the RT group had a longer duration of severe anxiety than the EMG-FB group. The T.M. group were predominantly female(F:M=9:1) compared to 4:7 in EMG group and 3:7 in RT group.

In Shannahoff\* 1999), participants were diagnosed Obsessive-Compulsive Disorders according to DSM-III-R with a minimum score of 15 on the Y-BOCS for the total 10 items. The minimum age for inclusion was 14 years old. Patients were excluded if they smoked, had a substance abuse disorder, spinal/physical problems (overweight, seizure disorders, pulmonary disorders, hypertension and other cardiovascular problems). Patients with psychiatric disorders which were considered to be the primary diagnosis i.e. schizophrenia, major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, mental retardation, anorexia / bulimia nervosa, Tourette syndrome, patients with trichotillomania or nail biting as their only compulsion were also excluded. Patients who were unable to maintain regular transportation to the study site were excluded. In the Kundalini Yoga group, patients had more associated physical disease (4:1) and more previous behaviour therapy (5:1) when compared to Relaxation/Mindfulness Meditation. Patients in the Relaxation/Mindfulness Meditation group had more psychiatric history (7:4).

### Outcomes

Most outcomes used well established psychiatric rating scale (Symptom Checklist-90, Taylor Manifest Anxiety Scale, Y-BOCS, Profile of Mood Scale etc. ). The study by Raskin 1980 also used

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

electromyography from different parts of the body.

All outcome measures were in continuous variables.

The outcome data of Raskin 1980 were described by covariate adjusted means and F-statistics,p-value and graphs. The standard deviation of the endpoint score could not be calculated from the data given. All data were put into the "other data" category.

The outcome data of Shannahoff\* 1999 were adequately given for analysis. The study provided both 3 month end-point scores and change scores. In spite of the baseline Y-BOCS seeming to be unequal (but not reaching statistical significant difference p>0.05) , the change score with SD were used in analysis.

#### **Risk of bias in included studies**

According to the quality criteria, the study by Raskin (1980) was classified as "Moderate quality" as the inclusion and exclusion criteria were clearly defined. Randomisations were assigned to each patient, but the allocation concealment was not explicitly described (unclear) = " B". The participants gave the commitment not to begin any treatment which would affected their anxiety levels. The important baselines were comparable except the T.M. group had more female patients M:F = 1:9. The dropouts were not described and were not included in the analysis. The outcome measures were clearly defined and valid.

The study of Shannahoff\* 1999 was classified as "Moderate quality". The inclusion and exclusion were clearly defined. Using coin toss for each individual patients separately, the allocation of treatment for the next patients could not be predicted, so the allocation concealment was automatically done in this case = "C". One of the important baselines (previous Behavioural Therapy) in 2 groups was very different (Kundalini:Relaxation/Mindfulness Meditation = 5:1) and the data of dropouts were not included in analysis at the  $3^{rd}$  month . The treatment programme, other than the interventions, were controlled to be identical. However, patients would be allowed to reduce or eliminate their established medications, the number of cases who dropped their medications and the effects of medications were not reported . The outcome measures were well accepted and properly done.

Masking/Blinding was not used in quality criteria.

Dropouts

The rate of dropouts in these 2 studies were high.

In Raskin(1980), at the early phase, the dropouts were 18 from 55 (33%) no details given for these 18 dropouts.

Further drop out during the treatment phase were 6 out of 37 (16%) 1 dropped out from EMG-FB, 3 from T.M. and 2 from RT group. The total drop out rate was 44%.

In Shannahoff\* 1999 the drop out rate was 7 out of 21 (33%), 4 from Kundalini and 3 from Relaxation/Meditation group.

### **Effects of interventions**

Transcendental meditation versus Muscle Biofeedback and versus Relaxation Training in anxiety neurosis

### Improvement in symptoms

One study compared the effectiveness of transcendental meditation, muscle biofeedback and relaxation training (Raskin 1980). Due to limitations in the data, with the authors unable to provide any further numeric data (Chan-Ob 2004) it was only possible to reprt the findings narratively. The study showed the effectiveness of three parallel group treatments in an 18 week program. At baseline, the Taylor Manifest Anxiety Scale Score(TMAS) was significantly different between the three groups and a covariate analysis with repeated measures was used to adjust baseline differences. Participants in all three groups had improved on the TMAS scale (F=7.26; df= 1,27; P<0.01), Current Mood Checklist(CMC) by periods (F=24.03; df= 1,27; P<0.01) and by weeks (F=4.43; df= 10, 280; P<0.05). Situational anxiety and symptomatic distress were also improved significantly (P<0.01). Sleep disturbance had not significantly improved. Electromyography which represented the degree of muscle relaxation had also reduced indiscriminately in the three groups by periods (F=4.4; df = 2,54; P<0.05) and by measures (F=90.25; df = 2,54; P<0.001). In the Social Ratings Scale, there was improvement in work, social functioning and relations with their family of origin (P<0.05), however marital relations and sex life were not significantly changed. The 13 toprank of patients (N=31) who showed substantial improvement accounted for 40 % of all patients who received treatment. There was no differential effect between the 3 treatments in reducing anxiety in any of measurements. Raskin 1980 also stated that the three treatments were similar with respect to both the time course for obtaining therapeutic results and the subjects' ability to maintain the results which were obtained. The precision of the results could not be determined as 95% confidence intervals were not reported, and could not be calculated due to lack of data.

### Acceptability of treatment

There were no reports of adverse events.

### Dropout

In the early treatment phase, the dropouts comprised 18 out of 55 participants (33%). No reasons were given for these 18 dropouts. A further 6 of the 37 remaining participants (16%) dropped out during the treatment phase. 1 dropped out from EMG-FB, 3 from TM and 2 from the RT group. The total dropout rate was 44%. **Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation/Mindfulness meditation in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorders** 

Improvement in symptoms

One study (Shannahoff\* 1999) compared Kundalini Yoga, specifically designed to treat OCD to Relaxation/Mindfulness Meditation, considered to be less active. The baseline of the Yale-Brown Obsessive-Compulsive Scale (Y-BOCS) scores of the two groups seemed to be equal, even when re-calculated after excluding those who dropped out. From six scales of measurement change, endpoint scales at 3 months were used. The Y-BOCS, considered to

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

be the primary outcome, showed no statistically significant difference between groups (WMD -2.57 95%CI = -7.67 to 2.53). But another 2 scales, the Perceived Stress Scale and Purpose In Life, showed significant differences favouring Kundalini Yoga over Relaxation/MM (WMD -7.57, 95% CI= -13.06 to -2.08; WMD 17.15, 95%CI= 0.80 to 33.5, respectively). The end-point scores of Symptom Checklist-90-R(SCL-90-R), Global Severity Index and Profile of Mood Scale were markedly skewed so that the data could not be included in a meta-analysis.

### Acceptability

There were no reports of adverse events .

#### Dropout

Seven out of 21 participants (33%), dropped out of the study by ( Shannahoff\* 1999), 4 from the Kundalini Yoga group and 3 from Relaxation/Meditation group.

### DISCUSSION

This review investigated the effectiveness of meditation therapy programs (concentrative meditation and mindfulness meditation), which have been designed specifically to treat anxiety disorders. There are some points regarding meditation and the studies included in this review that need some consideration.

The number of participants who adhered to the protocol is an important first point to consider. In the study by Shannahoff\* 1999, 14 out of 21 (67 %) participants completed the treatment program and in the study by Raskin (1980), 31 out of 55 participants (56%) completed the whole course of treatment program. The dropout rate was quite high in both studies, therefore adherence to meditation therapy in the clinical setting may be a major issue. An interesting comment is made by a consumer on the RemedyFind Website: "The problem with meditation, as with exercise, is that depression and anxiety can prevent you from trying them.... if you can't sit still long enough to close your eyes and relax, you can't meditate. If you can't drag yourself out of the house to exercise, you don't do it. If you can, however, both work well when done on a regular basis -- that's the key, though, to their effectiveness" (Morgan 2005). When implementing meditation in the clinical setting, adherence is one significant determinant of effectiveness. The intensiveness and adherence to doing regular meditation are other points of consideration, as with dose-response in medication studies. Delmonte 1998 found that by the end of two years, roughly half (54%) of the patients had terminated meditation. Following the success of psychopharmacological treatment of anxiety disorders, the use of psychosocial treatment prescriptions for anxiety disorder, not only relaxation/meditation but also cognitive-behavioural therapy and dynamic psychotherapy, is reported to have declined between 1991-1996 (Goisman 1999). Unfortunately the reasons for dropout were not provided in the trials included in this review, which preclude further interpretation of the findings.

A second point of consideration in this review is the scarcity of research. We did not find any eligible studies from eastern countries, considered to be the origin of most meditation techniques, especially India, China and Thailand. On the contrary, the only two included studies were done in the United States, following the spread of eastern spirituality to the West in later half of the last century (Snaith 1998). The first well known meditation technique, called Transcendental Meditation (TM) was brought to the United States by Maharishi Mahesh Yogi during the 1960s (Barrows 2002) and it was considered to be the beginning of well systematised meditation practice in the West. The lack of studies from eastern countries might be due to unpublished studies, or studies published in non-indexed journals or studies with negative findings (file drawer effect), which may not yet have been identified.

Thirdly, the eastern religions and meditation techniques have been developed for many thousands of years and were taught both in the old scriptures and through guru (master)-disciple relationships, which are very deeply connected beyond the intellectual understanding of science. The teachings of authoritative masters have not previously needed to be proved. Scientific methods based on hypothetico-deductive reasoning were developed much later. In some organisations, it is discourteous and sometimes inappropriate to question the teaching of the guru. In comparison, the diagnostic system of mental disorders, was developed in the last century. DSM-I, the original manual published by the American Psychiatric Association to set forth diagnostic criteria, was published in 1952. It was replaced in 1968 by DSM-II and followed with DSM-III, DSM-III-R, DSM-IV in(1994) and DSM-IV-TR (2001) respectively (Moon 2004). After the diagnostic systems were formally established, the treatments in modern medicine were concurrently developed and tested, leaving the age-old self help strategies untested or inadequately verified. It may need time and enthusiastic interests to bring this age old traditional wisdom to be tested and accepted in the new frame of western-oriented medicine . As Herbert Benson said " no innovation but a scientific validation of an age old wisdom" (Benson 1976). Although meditation was historically associated with religious or spiritual movements, this is no longer always the case. It is now very necessary to confirm the effectiveness of these meditation techniques if we want to adopt their use for psychiatric patients. Nowadays there are increasing numbers of organisations which use more scientificbased, less mystical terms to identify their techniques.

The best way to prove the effectiveness of meditation techniques should be based on non-cult, faith-free and specifically designed methods to treat patients.

When considering the 2 studies included in the review, the overall number of patients totalled only 45 subjects, and the studies compared different methods of meditation, therefore it was not appropriate to pool the effects together. The study by Raskin 1980 showed a reduction in anxiety scale and EMG score which reflected the effectiveness of treatment of all 3 treatment strategies. No superiority among methods was found. It could be said that any method which helps patients sit calmly in a low arousal environment and induces a relaxation response in various means would equally bring benefit to patients with anxiety disorders. However, participants in this study were highly motivated to practice a self regulatory method which is not always the case for anxiety patients in other settings. Several studies reported that yoga may reduce anxiety and stress and improve mood in healthy people who practice yoga several times per week for 30 to 60 minutes. The mechanism of meditation and another relaxation techniques in decreasing arousal state have been studied. Solberg reported that meditation reduced the level of heart rate and within participant variability of heart rate more than rest but blood pressure was unaffected (Solberg 2004, Canter 2004). If comparing TM to EMGbiofeedback, TM would have some advantages, in that it does not require sophisticated equipment and can be practiced at home. However TM is bound with cult/spiritual organisations and uses a specific Sanskrit mantra, which has to be kept secret. The aims of TM are not only a state of well-being, but also the spiritual development of individuals, which is beyond the scope of this review.

The study by Shannahoff\* 1999 showed no statistically significant difference in favour of Kundalini Yoga but the finding was of low precision (the confidence interval was large). After excluding dropout cases, the newly calculated baseline Y-BOCS scores showed a non-significant difference between groups with higher scores for the Kundalini group and the authors had tried to use two-way mixed model analysis of variance to adjust the baseline difference. Post hoc statistical adjustment might not be appropriate because of the small number of subjects (n=7). Due to higher baseline scores, the Kundalini group had the potential to achieve a larger treatment effect than the Relaxation/Mindfulness Meditation group when using the change scores. When calculating the treatment effect by using the end-point score, Kundalini Yoga patients showed no statistically significant improvement in Y-BOCS. However, further larger well designed studies using intention-totreat analysis are needed before a firm conclusion could be drawn.

Shannahoff-Khalsa has described a specific technique called "The Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder Breath (OCDB)", by blocking the right nostrils and inhaling slowly and deeply through the left nostril; hold in long; exhale slowly and completely through the same nostril. The mental focus should be on the sound of the breath (Shannahoff\* 2003). This slow breathing technique is one of many methods of pranayama (Yogic breathing meditation) which are widely practiced and long known in the East. In an anxiety state, the respiration becomes faster and more shallow. As in hyperventilation syndrome, breathing control could inhibit the vicious cycle of hyperventilation. In the case of OCD, there is

a question regarding the mechanism of how OCDB can relieve OCD symptoms. A study by Arambula, showed more alpha-EEG (more relaxed state) activity during Kundalini Yoga meditation, compared to the pre-meditation and post-meditation (Arambula 2001). Increasing of alpha rhythm might related to relaxed state. It is suggested that Right Nostril Yogic Breathing (RNB), increases the function of the brain on the right side, implying a possible application of RNB in certain psychiatric disorders with cerebral hemispheric imbalance (Raghuraj 2004). Further explanations need to be explored.

The trials included in this review used 4-18 month follow-ups with a high dropout rate. The adverse events associated with meditation were not reported in either trials. Although meditation has a face value of safety, there are many reports about the adverse events. Castillo reported that meditation can cause depersonalization and derealization (Castillo 1990), and there have been several reports about the association between meditation and psychotic state (French 1975, Lazarus 1976, Walsh 1979, Chan-Ob 1999). The majority of the meditation induced psychosis had underlying schizophrenia or other psychosis (Chan-Ob 2004). However from the 3 year follow up study by Miller, there were no adverse effects among the practitioners of Mindfulness Meditation using Kabat-Zinn's methods (Miller 1995).

There is a known report of spontaneous pneumothorax caused by pranayama (forced respiration). Adverse side effects can occur when the body is pushed to physiologic extremes (Johnson 2004). In the method of Kundalini Yoga described by Shannahoff-Khalsa, the patient is instructed to make every effort to maximize the four phase of the breath cycle until the complete breath cycle equals 1 minute, with four respective phase each lasting 15 seconds ( Shannahoff\* 1999; Shannahoff\* 2004), the patients had to hold breathing in the state of relative hypercapnia and hypoxia. Miyamura reported that the ventilatory response to hypercapnia and arterial blood gases during Ujjayi respiration(victorious breath) of once per minute for an hour were determined in a professional hatha yogi (Miyamaru 2002). The results suggested that lower chemosensitivity to hypercapnia in yoga practitioners may be due to an adaptation to low arterial pH and high Pa-CO<sub>2</sub> for long periods (Miyamaru 2002; Spicuzza 2001). We do not yet know the risk/benefit of this adaptation in the long term and should be aware that this may be an important issue that could not be addressed in the current review due to lack of data on adverse events provided in the two included studies.

Due to a lack of available studies for inclusion, the current review is unable to directly address whether meditation or medication exerts a larger effect in anxiety disorders. It is acknowledged that caution has to be taken when studying the effect of meditation with the other care without medication, as nowadays medication use in the treatment of anxiety disorders is well established.

### AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

### Implications for practice

### 1. For patients with anxiety disorders

The small number of included studies and lack of high quality trials in this review do not permit firm conclusions to be drawn. In one moderate quality trial, the use of meditation therapy in anxiety disorder was associated with some reduction of anxiety symptoms in general, which was comparable to another form of relaxation therapy. Motivation and adherence to practice under supervision of a qualified therapist are essential ingredients. There is a lack of evidence to demonstrate the effectiveness of meditation therapy over drug therapy, standard care or another psychotherapy. It is important to delineate between meditation that is a part of religious/spiritual practice and meditation for psychiatric treatment. One randomised controlled trial of small sample size and of moderate study quality suggests that Kundalini Yoga is no more effective than Relaxation/Mindfulness meditation. Kundalini Yoga needs physical effort and is not suitable for patients with cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease or physically unfit people. Patients must be supervised by skilled therapists. Patients should consult their health care provider if they are considering starting yoga or meditation (MC 2003).

### 2. For clinicians

There is slight supporting evidence for the effectiveness of meditation therapy in anxiety disorder patients, but it is not yet strong enough for any firm conclusions to be drawn. To apply meditation therapy the knowledge, attitude and skill of the therapists should be considered. The value judgement and willingness of individual patients are important factors which should not be overlooked and should always be taken into account. Many methods of meditation have not yet been proven effective for anxiety disorders. Kundalini Yoga for the treatment of OCD shows no benefit for obsessivecompulsive symptoms and more large trials are stll needed. Such techniques need proper training and practice, they may encounter some cultural barriers, and may not be applicable in every setting. The names of specific techniques derived from old scripture language might inevitably be an obstacle, because patients might not want to get involved with some strange-sounding mystical religions. Some techniques have adapted to use more religiousfree and scientific-based terms such as Consciousness Transformation, Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction Program (Kabat-Zinn 1992), Heartmath etc which might be more accepted by patients (Heartmath 2005). If meditation proves to be effective for anxiety disorders, it would have biological plausibility to generalize to anxiety in various clinical contexts.

### 3. For policy makers

Meditation therapy might hold some promise of providing a useful adjunct to traditional treatment for patients with anxiety disorders, however the scarcity of randomised controlled trials, limited to only two small trials at this time, demand caution to implement it on a large scale basis. There is still a need for data from large randomised controlled trials to verify these initial findings. A cost/benefit analysis would enable clinicians and funders to manage an efficient service and make the best use of resources. The advantage of self-management using meditation includes the reduction in therapists' time, which has not only financial implications but also confers the ability to offer help to large numbers of people (Snaith 1998).

### 4. For funders of research

More large well designed clinical trials are needed. Comparisons of meditation therapy with other psychotherapy would seem of particular interest. As patients attending for meditation therapy could develop a self regulatory strategy to cope with anxiety in the long term, this may help preserve medical care resources.

### Implications for research

It is challenging to do research in meditation therapy. Meditation therapy could be applied to be a form of non-pharmacologic treatment which can promote a sense of mastery and control which usually has been lost in chronic anxiety patients.

Future trials should be registered on a clinical trials registry before recruiting patients into the study. The informed consent process should be adhered to for best understanding and compliance to treatment of the patients. Use of well established diagnostic criteria systems that are properly implemented by trained personnel would help guarantee clinical homogeneity. Diagnosis should be done by physicians familiar with diagnostic systems in psychiatry. Structured or semi-structure diagnostic interviews i.e. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R (Skre 1991), Composite International Diagnostic Interview (Janca 1994), Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry (Wing 1990) or Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (Sheehan 1998) could help enhance the validity and reliability of diagnosis. DSM classification is assumed to be a theoretical approach to psychiatric disorders, whereas phenomenology of symptoms is used to differentiate between different types of anxiety disorders. However, pooling the results from different types of anxiety disorders might cause significant heterogeneity and make it difficult to interpret the results. Using binary outcomes would help the interpretation of clinical improvement and determine the number needed to treat. Merely reporting the statistically significant difference is not enough, and the clinical level of significance should be pre-defined to ensure the true clinical benefits and the strength of association are represented. More objective outcomes should be used i.e. EMG, respiratory rate and variability, heart rate and variability, EEG-alpha feedback etc.

Another important issue in designing meditation trials is to ensure that patients assimilate the techniques properly and adhere to the technique under investigation without the use of another

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

Copyright  $\textcircled{\sc 0}$  2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

intervention which might pre-exist in the patient's routine life eg prayer, chanting, Yoga Asana (body posture of yogic practice) etc.

It remains crucial to determine the factors which predict the response to meditation, and to delineate whether certain meditations are more effective for particular symptom sets (including symptoms such as generalized anxiety, panic, obsessive-compulsive or phobic). Due to the variety of meditation techniques, it is essential to define the active ingredients of each method. Trials should also study levels of adherence to treatment. The motivating factors of practitioners that could affect effectiveness are also important. The long term benefits of meditation practice for anxiety disorders and mental health in general are also of interest.

Hopefully additional randomised controlled trials of meditation in anxiety disorders will be included in this review in future. Given the high prevalence of anxiety disorders, the suffering of the patients, its chronicity and morbidity, and the enormous personal and societal costs, additional prospective research on meditation therapy is clearly required.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Research Council for Complementary Medicine (University of Westminster, London, UK) for giving relevant studies to be included.

Personal contact lists:

Addy Hackett about effectiveness of mindful meditation as a group therapy for anxiety disorder.

Catherine L. Hoover, Jeffrey Hoover : The Summit Lighthouse.

Carol Thompson , Tom Beckman from The Institute of Heart-Math.

Chueh-Fen Lu sent original article of Zen Meditation for treatment of Anxiety Disorder. David Shannahoff-Khalsa sent original article to be included.

Edwards Smith, MD President, Maharishi College of Vedic Medicine.

Graham Kirkwood provided potential relevant studies.

Kevin Cheng at The Institute of Qigong sent many references of Qi-gong for anxiety.

Lars Rasmussen MD sent some references about Transcendental Meditation.

Majorie Raskin for further details of included study.

Michael Mayer, Ph.D. is a Qigong teacher gave some references.

Mood and Anxiety Disorders Program of Emory University School of Medicine.

Patricia L. Gerbarg, MD Richard P. Brown, MD Su Bowerman from organization of Sudarshan Kriya.

Peter H Canter MD had sent some references of his work.

Vladimir Antonov, Ph.D. (in Biology), Russia at The Religious Book For God Seekers.

List of contacted organizations:

Association for the Advancement of Psychosynthesis Meditation Groups, Inc.

Brahma Kumaris World Spiritual University

Holistic Online.com

Institute of HeartMath

Scandinavian Yoga and Meditation School

Sri Ram Chandra Mission

The Art of Living Foundation

Transcendental Meditation organization and sub-organization

Vipassana Research Institute

### REFERENCES

#### References to studies included in this review

Raskin 1980 {published data only}

Raskin M, Bali LR, Peeke HV. Muscle biofeedback and transcendental meditation. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1980;**37**(1):93–7.

### Shannahoff\* 1999 {published data only}

\* Shannahoff-Khalsa D, Ray LE, Levine S, Gallen CC, Schwartz BJ, Sidorowich JJ. Randomized controlled trial of yogic meditation techniques for patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *CNS Spectrums* 1999;4(12):34–47.

### References to studies excluded from this review

#### Lu 1998 {published data only}

\* Lu CF, LiaoJC, Liu CY, Luiu HY, Chang YH. Meditation therapy in the treatment of anxiety disorders. *Taiwanese Journal of Psychiatry* 1998;**12**(4):47–55.

#### Sahasi 1989 {published data only}

\* Sahasi G, Mohan D, Kacker C. Effectiveness of yogic techniques in the management of anxiety. *Journal of Personality and Clinical Studies* 1989;**5**(1):51–5.

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

### Additional references

#### Altman 1996

Altman DG, Bland JM. Detecting skewness from summary information. *BMJ* 1996;**313**(7066):1200.

#### APA 1994

American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV)*. 4. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press, 1994.

### Arambula 2001

Arambula P, Peper E, Kawakami M, Gibney KH. The physiological correlates of Kundalini Yoga meditation: a study of a yoga master The physiological correlates of Kundalini Yoga meditation: a study of a yoga master. *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback* 2001;**26** (2):147–53.

### Astin 1997

Astin JA. Stress reduction through mindfulness meditation: Effects on psychological symtomatology, sense of control and spiritual experiences. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics* 1997;**66**(2):97–106.

#### Barrows 2002

Barrows KA, Jacobs BP. Mind-body medicine: an introduction and review of the literature. *Medical Clinics of North America* 2002;**86** (1):11–31.

#### Beidel 1997

Beidel DC, Turner SM, Ballenger JC. Psychosocial treatments for anxiety disorders. In: Dunner DL editor(s). *Current psychiatric therapy*. 2. Philadelphia, PA: W.B.Saunders Company, 1997.

#### Benson 1975

Benson H, Klipper MZ. *The Relaxation Response*. New York, NY: Harper Torch, 1975.

### Benson 1976

Benson H, Zipper MZ. *The relaxation response*. London: Wm.Collins & Sons, 1976.

#### Blazer 1991

Blazer DG, Hughes D, George LK, Swartz M, Boyer R. Generalized anxiety disorder. *Psychiatric Disorders in America. The Epidemiologic Catchment Area Study.* New York, NY: Free Press, 1991.

### Canter 2004

Canter PH, Ernst E. Insufficient evidence to conclude whether or not transcendental meditation decreases blood pressure: results of a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. *Journal of Hypertension* 2004;**22**(11):2049–54.

#### Castillo 1990

Castillo RJ. Depersonalization and meditation. *Psychiatry* 1990;**53** (2):158–68.

#### Chan-Ob 1999

Chan-Ob T, Boonyanaruthee V. Meditation in association with psychosis. *Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand* 1999;**82**(9): 925–30.

### Chan-Ob 2004

Chan-Ob T. personal communication October 18 2005.

#### Clarke 2003

Clarke M, Oxman AD. Cochrane Reviewer's handbook 4.2.0 [updated March 2003]. In: Clarke M, Oxman AD editor(s). *The Cochrane Library*. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.

#### Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

#### **Davis 1998**

Davis J. Notes on the psychology of meditation Part 1: Definition. http://www.naropa.edu/faculty/johndavis/tp/medit2.html updated on December 18, 1998..

### Delmonte 1998

Delmonte MM. Personality correlates of meditation practice frequency and dropout in an outpatient population. *Journal of Behavioural Medicine* 1988;11(6):593–7.

#### Derogatis 1973

Derogatis LR, Lipman RS, Covi L. SCL-90: An outpatient psychiatric rating scale: Preliminary report. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin* 1973;**9**(1):13–27.

#### Eaton 1994

Eaton WW, Kessler RC, Wittchen HU, Magee WJ. Panic and panic disorder in the United States. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1994; **151**(3):41–3.

### Egger 1997

Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder CE. Bias in metaanalysis detected by a simple, graphical test.. *BMJ* 1997;**315**(7109): 629–34.

#### Free 1977

Free SM, Overall JE. The Brief Outpatient Psychopathology Scale (BOPS). *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 1977;**33**(2):677–88.

### French 1975

French AP, Schmid AC, Ingalls E. Transcendental Meditation, altered reality testing, and behavioural change: a case report. *Journal* of Nervous and Mental Disease 1975;**161**(1):55–8.

#### Goisman 1999

Goisman RM, Warshaw MG, Keller MB. Psychosocial treatment prescriptions for generalized anxiety disorder, Panic disorder, and Social Phobia, 1991-1996. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1999;**156** (11):1819–21.

#### Goodman 1989

Goodman WK, Price LH, Rasmussen SA, Mazure C, Fleischmann RL, Hill CL, et al. The Yale-Brown obsessive compulsive scale1, Development, use, and reliability. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1989; **46**:1006–11.

### Guy 1970

Guy W, Bonato RR. *Manual for the ECDEU Assessment Battery.2.* Chevy Chase, MD: National Institute of Mental Health, 1970.

#### Hamilton 1959

Hamilton M. The assessment of anxiety states by rating. *British Journal of Medical Psychology* 1959;**32**:50–5.

#### Hassed 1996

Hassed C. Meditation in medical practice. *Australian Family Physician* 1996;**25**(8):1257–60.

#### Heartmath 2005

The Institute of HeartMath is an innovative nonprofit 501(c)(3) research and education organization. http://www.heartmath.org/.

#### Higgins 2005

Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions 4.2.5 [updated May 2005].. *The Cochrane Library, Issue 3.* Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2005:81.

#### Horwath 2000

Horwath E, Weissman MM. Anxiety disorders: epidemiology. In: Sadock BJ, Sadock VA editor(s). Kaplan & Sadock's comprehensive textbook of psychiatry. 7. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2000.

### Janca 1994

Janca A, Ustun TB, Sartorius N. New versions of World Health Organization instruments for the assessment of mental disorders. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 1994;90(2):73-83.

### Johnson 2004

Johnson DB, Tierney MJ, Sadighi PJ. Kapalabhati pranayama: breath of fire or cause of pneumothorax? A case report. Chest 2004; 125(5):1951-2.

#### Kabat-Zinn 1992

Kabat-Zinn J, Massion AO, Kristeller J, Peterson LG, Fletcher KE, Pbert L, et al. Effectiveness of a meditation-based stress reduction program in the treatment of anxiety disorders. American Journal of Psychiatry 1992;149(7):936-43.

#### Kessler 1994

Kessler RC, McGonagle KA, Zhao S. Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R psychiatric disorders in the United States. Archives of General Psychiatry 1994;51(1):8-19.

#### Kessler 1995

Kessler RC, Sonnega A, Bromet E, Hughes M, Nelson CB. Posttraumatic stress disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey. Archives of General Psychiatry 1995;52(12):1048-60.

#### Lazarus 1976

Lazarus AA. Psychiatric problems precipitated by Transcendental Meditation. Psychological Reports 1976;39(2):601-2.

#### Light 1984

Light RJ, Pillemer DB. Organizing a reviewing strategy. Summing Up: The Science of Reviewing Research. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1984:13-31.

#### Lipman 1976

Lipman R, Covi L. Outpatient treatment of neurotic depression: medication and group psychotherapy. In: Spitzer R, Klein DL editor (s). Evaluation of the Psychological Therapies. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1976.

#### MC 2003

Medical Natural bv content created Standard and The Faculty of Harvard Medical school. Yoga. http: //www.intelihealth.com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&hident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&hident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&hident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&hident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&hident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&hident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&hident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&hident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&hident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrint/WSIHW000/8513/34968/358876.html?dtdmtfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrintfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrintfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrintfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrintfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrintfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrintfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrintfoontentorhident&com/IH/ihtPrintfoontentorhident&co (access on 23 June 2005).

#### Miller 1995

Miller JJ, Fletcher K, Kabat-Zinn J. Three-year follow-up and clinical implications of a mindfulness meditation-based stress reduction intervention in the treatment of anxiety disorders. General Hospital Psychiatry 1995;17:192-200.

#### Miyamaru 2002

Miyamura M, Nishimura K, Ishida K, Katayama K, Shimaoka M, Hiruta S. Is man able to breathe once a minute for an hour?: The effect of yoga respiration on blood gases. Japanese Journal of Physiology 2002;52(3):313-6.

#### Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

#### Moon 2004

Moon KF. The History of Psychiatric Classification: From Ancient Egypt to Modern America. http: //www.arches.uga.edu/~kadi/index.html (accessed 22 Jun 2005).

### Morgan 2005

Morgan J. Meditation for Generalized Anxiety Disorders. http: //www.remedyfind.com/rm-3980-Meditation.asp (accessed on 22 Iun 2005).

#### Petitti 2000

Petitti DB. Meta-analysis, decision analysis and cost-effective analysis. 2. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.

#### Rachman 1990

Rachman S, Hodgson RJ. Obsessions and Compulsions. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, 1990.

#### Raghuraj 2004

Raghuraj P, Telles S. Right uninostril yoga breathing influences ipsilateral components of middle latency auditory evoked potentials. Neurological Sciences 2004;25(5):274-80.

#### Raskin 1980

Raskin M, Bali L R, Peeke H V. Muscle biofeedback and transcendental meditation. A controlled evaluation of efficacy in the treatment of chronic anxiety. Archives of General Psychiatry 1980;37(1): 93-7.

### **Review Manager 2004**

The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan) [Computer program] Version 4.2 for Windows. Oxford: The Cochrane Collaboration, 2004.

### Sadock 2003

Sadock BJ, Sadock VA, Kaplan HI. Kaplan and Sadock's Synopsis of Psychiatry: Behavioral Sciences/Clinical Psychiatry. 9th Edition. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2003.

#### Schulz 1995

Schulz KF, Chalmers I, Hayes RJ, Altman D. Empirical evidence of bias. Dimensions of methodological quality associated with estimates of treatment effects in controlled trials. JAMA 1995;273(5):408-12.

#### Shannahoff\* 2003

Shannahoff-Khalsa D. Kundalini Yoga Meditation Techniques for the Treatment of Obsessive-Compulsive and OC Spectrum Disorders. Brief Treatment and Crisis Intervention 2003;3(3):369-82.

#### Shannahoff\* 2004

Shannahoff-Khalsa DS. An introduction to kundalini yoga meditation techniques that are specific for the treatment of psychiatric dis-(1):91-101.

### Sheehan 1998

Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry 1998;59 Suppl 20:22-33.

#### Skre 1991

Skre I, Onstad S, Torgersen S, Kringlen E. High interrater reliability for the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R Axis I (SCID-I). Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 1991;84(2):167-73.

### Snaith 1998

Snaith P. Meditation and psychotherapy. *British journal of Psychiatry* 1998;**173**:193–95.

#### Solberg 2004

Solberg EE, Ekeberg O, Holen A, Ingjer F, Sandvik L, Standal PA, et al. Hemodynamic changes during long meditation. *Applied Psychophysiology and biofeedback* 2004;**29**(3):213–21.

### Spicuzza 2001

Spicuzza L, Gabutti A, Porta C, Montano N, Bernardi L. Yoga and chemoreflex response to hypoxia and hypercapnia. *Lancet* 2000;**28**; **356**(9240):1495–6.

#### Thompson 1995

Thompson SG. Why sources of heterogeneity in meta-analysis should be investigated. In: Chalmers I, Altman DG editor(s). *Systematic Reviews*. London: BMJ Publishing Group, 1995.

#### VanDercar 1980

VanDercar DH, Greaner J, Hibler NS, Spielberger CD, Bloch SA. A description and analysis of the operation and validity of the psychological stress evaluator. *Journal of Forensic Science* 1980;**25**(1): 174–88.

### Walsh 1979

Walsh R, Roche L. Precipitation of acute psychotic episodes by intensive meditation in individuals with a history of schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1979;**136**(8):1085–6.

### Weissman 1997

Weissman MM, Bland RC. The cross-national epidemiology of panic disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1997;**54**(4):305–9.

### Wing 1990

Wing JK, Babor T, Brugha T, Burke J, Cooper JE, Giel R, et al.SCAN. Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1990;47(6):589–93.

\* Indicates the major publication for the study

# CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

### Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

#### Raskin 1980

Methods	Randomised Controlled Trial 3 parallel group Analysis by analysis of variance with repeated measure, using baseline measures as covariate, factors were groups, time, weeks, period no Intention to treat analysis
---------	--

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

### Raskin 1980 (Continued)

Participants	Diagnosis of Anxiety Neurosis (DSM-II) have had symptom for 1 year or more + Taylor Manifest Anxiety Scale (TMAS) score at least 21( 80 percentile) Subjects who taking anti-anxiety medication were included Baseline demographic Age (SD) : EMG Feedback(EMG) = 32(6.4) , Transcendental Meditation (TM) = 32(10.2) Relaxation Training(RT) = 37(11.5) Duration of severe anxiety EMG = 10(8.4) TM = 32(10.2) Rt = 37(11.5) Receive medication EMG = 2 TM= 2 RT = 2 Gender M:F EMG = 4:7 TM = 1:9 RT = 3:7 Prior therapy for anxiety EMG = 9 TM = 10 RT = 10 n =55 , 18 drop out early during baseline or immediate after treatment were assigned Further 6 drop outs during treatment periods ( 3 TM, 2 RT, 1 EMG-BF) Excluded : medical problems that complicated anxiety, alcohol or substance abuse , prior formal training in either EMG-BF, TM, RT
Interventions	Group1 : Muscle Biofeedback (n=11) 3 times/week , 1 hr session used own strategies to relax, modified progressive relaxation , visual imagery , practice twice daily for 20 mins. Group2 : Transcendental Meditation (n=10) 4 consecutive days of individual instruction, lecture , weekly checked by TM trainer, practice twice daily for 20 mins. discourage the use of meditation to relieve anxiety at specific times Group3 : Relaxation Therapy (n=10) similar to Muscle biofeedback but no feedback were provided , practice twice daily for 20 mins The period of treatment consists of 6 weeks baseline , 6-weeks treatment , 6 weeks posttreatment , later follow up at 3,6,12,18 months
Outcomes	<ol> <li>Anxiety Measures         Trait Anxiety - Taylor Manifest Anxiety Scale at prior to treatment, the end of treatment, post treatment observation period         State Anxiety - Current Mood Checklist (CMCL)         Situational Anxiety- 4 point scale ( absent, mild, moderate and severe)         Anxiety Symptoms - 4 points scale         Sleep disturbance - record daily for sleep latency, time awake, use of sedatives         Electromyographic Recordings 3 times a week in all participants         Frontalis m., dominant forearm extensor, nondominant forearm flexor - calculated mean peak to peak of EMG waves         Social Ratings         The Structured and Scaled Interview to Assess Maladjustment</li></ol>
Notes	Participants using anti-anxiety drugs were equally distributed no details given for 18 drop outs at the early phase, the total drop outs are 24 from 55 (44%) Dropouts during the treatment phase 6 in 37 (16%) Data from follow up period were mixed up all treatment so that it could not be differentiate effects of each treatments

Risk of bias

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review) Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

### Raskin 1980 (Continued)

Item	Authors' judgement	Description
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear

### Shannahoff\* 1999

Methods	Randomised Controlled Trial using coin toss by each participants at the beginning 2 phase of treatment : phase 1 RCT 3months + phase 2 uncontrolled trial 12 months blinded participants to treatment group during phase 1 Analysis : two tailed student's t-test with change score for phase 1 repeated measure ANOVA for phase 2 5. The Intention -to-treat analysis were done by LOCF in each group by paired t-test
Participants	Diagnosis of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (DSM-III-R) N = 21 (phase 1) Gender distribution : Kundalini(K) M 3: F 8 Relaxation/ Meditation(R/M) M 4: F 6 Age (SD) K= 38.55 (13.25) R/M= 40 (14.3) Baseline score(Y-BOCS)n=10 K = 22.75(5.15) R/M = 22.80(5.39) Associate physical dz. K = 4 R/M= 1 Psychiatric history K= 4 R/M= 7 Depression K= 3 R/M= 5 Bipolar K=0 R/M=1 ADD K=1 R/M=0 Anorexia-bulimia : K= 1 R/M=1 Previous Behavioural Therapy K =5 R/M = 1 Relative with OCD K = 3 R/M =3 Medication K= 8 R/M = 9
Interventions	Group 1 : Kundalini Yoga practice weekly meeting with instructors, Protocol required approximate 1 hour to complete and daily practice to the best of their ability(n=11) Group 2 : Relaxation Response 30 mins + Mindfulness Meditation 30 mins , and daily practice to the best of their ability.(n=10)
Outcomes	Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale : obsession , compulsion , total score : self rating after explanation in group SCL-90 R include obsessive-compulsive scale , GSI composite(total) Profile of Mood Scale (POMS) represented by Total Mood Disorder index(TMD) Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) Purpose In Life (PIL)
Notes	This review include only phase 1 which was RCT. After phase 1 all patients were merged into one group Kundalini Attrition rate 7 in 21 (33%), 4 from Kundalini and 3 from Relaxation/Meditation group The baseline score of Y-BOCS were re-calculated for the remaining participants(n= 7 in each group) K= 24.57(4.68), R/M = 20.57(3.36) The end point score(Mean(SD)) at 3 months obtained from remaining 7 participants in each group

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review) Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

### Shannahoff\* 1999 (Continued)

Risk of bias								
Item	Authors' judgement	Description						
Allocation concealment?	No	C - Inadequate						

# Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Lu 1998	Pseudo-randomization , alternate patients
Sahasi 1989	Pseudorandomization , odd-even number and subject to willingness , some participants in group yoga if unable to practice moved to drug group

### DATA AND ANALYSES

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of No. of studies participants		Statistical method	Effect size		
1 Symptom improvement (Y- BOCS) at 3 months	1	14	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-2.57 [-7.67, 2.53]		
2 Perceived Stress Scale at 3 months	1	14	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	-7.58 [-13.06, -2.08]		
3 Purpose in Life at 3 months	1	14	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	17.15 [0.80, 33.50]		
4 Symptoms Checklist-90-Revised			Other data	No numeric data		
5 Global Severity Index Scale			Other data	No numeric data		
6 Profile Mood States			Other data	No numeric data		

# Comparison 1. Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation Response/Mindfuness Meditation

### Comparison 2. EMG-feedback versus Transcendental Meditation versus Relaxation training

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Taylor Manifest Anxiety Scale			Other data	No numeric data
2 Current Mood Checklist			Other data	No numeric data
3 Situations, Symptoms and Sleep			Other data	No numeric data
4 Electromyography			Other data	No numeric data
5 Social Ratings			Other data	No numeric data

# Analysis I.I. Comparison I Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation Response/Mindfuness Meditation, Outcome I Symptom improvement (Y-BOCS) at 3 months.

Review: Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders

Comparison: I Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation Response/Mindfuness Meditation

Outcome: I Symptom improvement (Y-BOCS) at 3 months

Study or subgroup	Kundalini Yoga N	Mean(SD)	Relax/MindfulMed N	Mean(SD)		n Difference :d,95% Cl	Weight	Mean Difference IV,Fixed,95% Cl
Shannahoff* 1999	7	15.14 (6.2)	7	17.71 (2.98)			100.0 %	-2.57 [ -7.67, 2.53 ]
Total (95% CI)	7		7				100.0 %	-2.57 [ -7.67, 2.53 ]
Heterogeneity: not ap	plicable							
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.99 (P = 0.3)	2)						
						· ·	1	
					-10 -5 (	05	10	
				Fav	ours Kundalini	Favours Rela	axation/M	

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

# Analysis I.2. Comparison I Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation Response/Mindfuness Meditation, Outcome 2 Perceived Stress Scale at 3 months.

Review: Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders

Comparison: I Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation Response/Mindfuness Meditation

Outcome: 2 Perceived Stress Scale at 3 months

Study or subgroup	Kundalini Yoga		Relaxation/Mindfulne			Mea	n Difference	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		IV,Fixe	d,95% Cl		IV,Fixed,95% CI
Shannahoff* 1999	7	14.29 (5.76)	7	21.86 (4.67)	•			100.0 %	-7.57 [ -13.06, -2.08 ]
Total (95% CI)	7		7					100.0 %	-7.57 [ -13.06, -2.08 ]
Heterogeneity: not ap	oplicable								
Test for overall effect:	Z = 2.70 (P = 0)	.0069)							
								1	
					-10 -5	5 (	) 5	10	
				Fav	ours Kund	lalini	Favours Rel	laxation/M	

### Analysis I.3. Comparison I Kundalini Yoga versus Relaxation Response/Mindfuness Meditation, Outcome 3 Purpose in Life at 3 months.

Review: Meditation the	erapy for any	kiety disorders							
Comparison: I Kundali	ni Yoga vers	us Relaxation Re	sponse/Mindfuness	Med	itation				
Outcome: 3 Purpose ir	n Life at 3 m	onths							
Study or subgroup Ku	ndalini Yoga N	Mean(SD)	Relaxation/Mindfl N	ulne	Mean(SD)		n Difference ed,95% Cl	Weight	Mean Difference IV,Fixed,95% Cl
Shannahoff* 1999	7	107.29 (18.65)		7	90.14 (11.81)			100.0 %	17.15 [ 0.80, 33.50 ]
<b>Total (95% CI)</b> Heterogeneity: not applic Test for overall effect: Z =		0.040)		7			•	100.0 % 17	7.15 [ 0.80, 33.50 ]
					-100	-50	0 50 10	00	
					Favours Rel	axation/M	Favours Kun	dalini	

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review)

# Symptoms Checklist-90-Revised

Shannahoff* 1999	changed score shown statistical sig-	Endpoint score	Skewed data
	nificant different favoured Kun- dalini Yoga	gr1: 0.957 (0.635)(1.54 to 0.37)	
	U	gr2:1.929 (0.512)(2.40 to 1.46)	
		n = 14 (7/7)	

## **Global Severity Index Scale**

Shannahoff* 1999	Changed score shown Statistical sig-	1	Skewed data
	nificant different (p<0.05) favoured Kundalini Yoga	gr1: 0.497 (0.328)(0.800 to 1.93) gr2: 1.106 (0.390)(1.46 to 0.74)	
		n =14 (7/7)	

### **Profile Mood States**

Shannahoff* 1999	Changed score shown statistical sig- nificant different (p<0.05) favoured Kundalini Yoga	1	Skewed data
		gr2: 70.14 (31.47)(99.25 to 41.04)	

# Taylor Manifest Anxiety Scale

Raskin 1980	- There was no significant group effect,	(F =7.26; df= 1,27; P<0.1)	- Covariance adjusted means decrease significantly by time
	- The test time were significant different		- no different between different type of treat- ment
Raskin 1980			

# **Current Mood Checklist**

Raskin 1980	- no significant group effect ,	- periods F= 24.03; df = 2,56; P<0.01	
	period of treatment were significant different ,	- weeks by period F =4.43; df = 10,280; P<0.05	
	- weeks by periods also significant dif- ferent		
Raskin 1980			

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review) Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Situations, Symptoms and Sleep

Raskin 1980	<ul> <li>No significant group effect</li> <li>Situational anxiety and symptomatic distress decreased significantly</li> <li>Sleep disturbance was no significant improvement</li> </ul>	- Situational and Symptomatic dis- tress : P<0.01 from baseline to post- treatment period	
Raskin 1980			

# Electromyography

Raskin 1980	- EMG scores from each musclewere	- Periods (F= 4.4; df= 2,54; P<0.05 )	
	averaged to give one score ;	- Measures ( F= 90.25; df= 2,54;	
	- The factors were groups, periods,	P< 0.001) and rose significantly from	
	and measures	treatment period to post-treatment	
	- There were no significant group ef-	period (P<0.01)	
	fect or interaction .	- The posttreatment period frontalis	
	- Periods were significant different.	scores P<0.01	
	Measures were significant different		
	-The posttreatment period frontalis scores remained significant lower than baseline period		

# Social Ratings

Raskin 1980	- In all ratings, the groups were not sta- tistical different.	P< 0.05
	<ul> <li>Work, social functioning, relations with family significant improve from pre-treatment</li> <li>marital relations and sex life, no sig- nificant change were found</li> </ul>	

# WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 24 August 2005.

Meditation therapy for anxiety disorders (Review) Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

# HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 4, 2004 Review first published: Issue 1, 2006

25 August 2005 New citation required and conclusions have changed Substantive amendment

### CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

TK 04 : develop protocol, searching, quality assessment, data collection, analysis,

WK04 : searching, quality assessment, data collection

NP04 : searching , quality assessment

ML04 : analysis

# DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

TK runs the Meditation Therapy Clinic for various types of patients at the Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, KhonKaen University, Thailand.

No potential conflict of interest for other authors.

# SOURCES OF SUPPORT

# Internal sources

- Thai Cochrane Network, Thailand.
- Faculty of Medicine , KhonKaen University, Thailand.
- Cochrane Collaboration Depression Anxiety and Neurosis Review Group, UK.

### **External sources**

• Thailand Research Fund (TRF), Thailand.

# INDEX TERMS

# Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Anxiety Disorders [\*therapy]; Biofeedback (Psychology); Meditation [\*methods]; Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder [therapy]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic; Relaxation Techniques; Yoga

### MeSH check words

Humans